Brief of Appellant

Filed 12-28-2021

Page 1 of 36

FILED 12-28-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP00275-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONALD L. WHITE,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Grant County, the Honorable Craig R. Day Presiding Circuit Court Case No: 18CF12

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JENNIFER A. LOHR State Bar No. 1085725

LOHR LAW OFFICE, LLC 583 D'Onofrio Dr., Suite 1011 Madison, WI 53719 (608) 515-8106 jlohr@lohrlawoffice.com

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

When competency is at issue in a criminal case, the court must appoint an expert examiner to evaluate the defendant and provide a report opining whether the defendant is competent to proceed to trial. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2), (3). If competency remains contested after the expert report, and the defendant maintains he is incompetent, the burden is on the State to prove competence by the greater weight of the credible evidence at a competency hearing. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). Here, the circuit court sua sponte ordered a competency evaluation. The appointed expert attempted to examine Mr. White but was unable to offer an opinion to a reasonable degree of certainty as to competence and recommended that continued examination on an inpatient basis was necessary to come to an opinion with the required certainty. Instead, the court proceeded with the competency hearing, ruled the examiner's opinion on competency inadmissible, but allowed testimony regarding the examiner's interactions with Mr. White. The court then found Mr. White competent.

I. Did the circuit court err by proceeding with a competency hearing with no admissible expert on opinion on competency, because the expert's opinion was that the defendant required additional inpatient evaluation?

Trial court answered: The court proceeded with the competency hearing but did not admit the expert's opinion. The court then found Mr. White competent.

II. Did the circuit court err by finding defendant competent without an admissible expert opinion on competency?

Trial Court Answered: The court found Mr. White competent and proceeded to trial.

III. Did the circuit court's failure to follow the statutory procedure for competency evaluations and hearings constitute a violation of the defendant's constitutional due process rights?

Trial Court Answered: The court did not address this question.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. White would welcome oral argument should the court find it helpful. Publication is warranted to clarify whether section 971.14 requires an expert opinion of sufficient certainty to be admissible prior to a circuit court determining a defendant's competency to stand trial. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case arises out of an October 23, 2017, incident in which Mr. White, an inmate at the Wisconsin Secure Program Facility (WSPF), was alleged to have spit at a correctional officer, hitting the officer's face and shoulder. (1:1-2.) The state charged Mr. White by criminal complaint on January 24, 2018, with one count of assault by prisoner – throw/expel saliva, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.43(2m)(a), a Class I felony. (*Id.*)

Mr. White appeared at the initial appearance on February 12, 2018, by videoconference from WSPF without counsel.¹ (35:2.) At a status conference on April 2, 2018, Mr.

¹ During this hearing, the court informed Mr. White of the possibility of receiving an appointed attorney through the State Public Defender. (35:3.)

White again appeared by video without counsel.² (36:1.) The court attempted to address the issue of representation. (36:2-3.) During this conversation, Mr. White questioned whether the judge was Abraham Lincoln and requested First Lady Eleanor Roosevelt be appointed as his attorney. (*Id.*) When the court informed Mr. White that was not possible, Mr. White disconnected from the hearing. (36:3.) The court stated that Mr. White would forfeit his right to counsel at the preliminary hearing if further conversation at that time did not result in Mr. White requesting the appointment of a public defender. (*Id.*)

The Court Raises Competency

Mr. White appeared in person, without counsel, for the preliminary hearing on May 3, 2018. (37:2.) The court again addressed the issue of representation. (*Id.*) Mr. White told the court he was exercising his right not to answer questions. (*Id.*) The court advised Mr. White of his right to be represented by a lawyer and the requirement that the court find Mr. White competent to represent himself if he did not want a lawyer. (37:3.)

The court referenced Mr. White's previous comments about Abraham Lincoln and Eleanor Roosevelt, noting "that made me wonder whether you were oriented to time and place." (*Id.*) Mr. White responded that Eleanor Roosevelt was his payee, and "You got something to say to me, tell her." (*Id.*) The court asked additional questions about Mr. White's reference to Eleanor Roosevelt as his payee, as well as his age, current status as an inmate, and whether he had past experience being represented by a lawyer. (37:3-4.) Mr. White did not

² Prior to this hearing, the court had received an email from the State Public Defender's Office in Lancaster stating that staff in the office had spoken with Mr. White and he had declined representation by a public defender. (7.)

respond to the court's questions or statements. (37:3-5.) The court noted it questioned Mr. White's competence, stating "this Abraham Lincoln and Eleanor Roosevelt thing kind of has me wondering about your orientation to the world." (37:5-6.) The court questioned Mr. White as to his own position on competence, but Mr. White did not respond. (37:7.)

The court also informed Mr. White that his right to be present at certain hearings could be forfeited if he did not voluntarily cooperate with officers transporting him to court. (37:6.) Noting, "apparently they had to forcibly put you in a transport van," the court warned Mr. White that "if at future hearings you give the officers physical resistance to coming to court, you're just not going to come and you're going to miss out on it." (37:6-7.) Mr. White did not respond to the court when it asked if he understood the court's warning. (*Id.*)

Mr. White's demeanor at the preliminary hearing, as described on the record by the circuit court, was:

Mr. White's behavior here today in court, he's quiet, he does not respond, he had occasionally made eye contact with me. But for the most part not. He now has his head laying on counsel table. He is, I note, wearing a spit mask. He has muttered a few inaudible things. I thought once maybe he was going to start responding.

(37:8.) The court questioned a correctional officer who had escorted Mr. White from WSPF to court whether Mr. White was always nonresponsive and was told that he was not always so. (37:9.)

The court proceeded with the preliminary hearing, found probable cause, and bound the case over for trial. (37:12.)

The court ordered a competency examination and advised Mr. White regarding the competency proceedings, "we're not going to have the examiner spend a lot of time trying to interview Mr. White. If Mr. White wants to interact with the examiner, that would be good. If he does not, the examiner will attempt to glean information from other sources." (37:13-14.)

The Competency Report

Dr. Christina Engen was appointed to examine Mr. White. (10, 11; App. 103-04.) On June 5, 2018, Dr. Engen submitted her report opining that "Mr. White does not presently lack substantial mental capacity to understand the pending proceedings or be of assistance in his defense. However, absent his cooperation, this opinion is not offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty." (12:4.)

The report stated Mr. White did not cooperate with the examination and Dr. Engen's discussion with Mr. White was "unproductive" because he provided "outlandish" answers to questions and "behaved in a manner that appeared to me theatrical." (12:2.) Dr. Engen's opinion was therefore based on prior determinations that Mr. White was competent, a lack of documentation of any mental health diagnosis in Department of Corrections records, records demonstrating Mr. White's ability to advocate for himself in communications with DOC staff, and Mr. White's presumed knowledge gained from his prior experience as a defendant. (12:5.) The report further stated regarding Dr. Engen's conclusions,

I am unable to offer this opinion to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. This is based on the fact that (1) he did not cooperate with my examination, (2) I am aware of the possibility that malingering can co-exist with incompetency, and (3) ten years have passed since

he was last evaluated and adjudicated competent. As such, this is a situation in which it might be prudent to continue examination on an inpatient basis.

(12:5.)

At a hearing on August 2, 2018, Mr. White contended that he was not competent. (38:3; App.106.) The court acknowledged it was required to hold an evidentiary hearing and that the State "bears the burden of proving by the greater weight of the credible evidence that Mr. White is competent if it wishes to proceed." (*Id.*) The court discussed with the prosecutor how to proceed given the problem with the expert report:

[THE STATE]: Well there's a problem as far as proceeding directly to a hearing. Ms. Engen's report states that she's unable to offer her competency opinion to a reasonable degree of professional certainty due to Mr. White's not cooperating with her at all.

So I guess if he wants to maintain that he's not competent, I think he should be further evaluated by Ms. Engen. I do not think it should be inpatient. He should not be getting sort of a benefit by being uncooperative.

THE COURT: I didn't understand Doctor Engen to think that any more evaluation was going to be helpful.

[THE STATE]: Well, if he would cooperate. But, yeah, it's -- I suppose he would have to present evidence that he isn't competent. If it's the greater weight of the evidence, I think probably even if she can't offer her opinion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, it's still going to be more than what he can muster up is my guess.

THE COURT: If she can't offer an opinion to a reasonable degree of certainty it's not an admissible opinion. And so her opinion doesn't get in. But a lot of what's detailed in the evaluation report are previous evaluations, if I recall correctly, five in number. And I think that even if Ms. Engen's opinion itself is not admissible, the details of her observations and conversations are. And competency proceedings are not a venue for playing games with the system. But unless expressly waived, the statute says that we're to have a evidentiary hearing and that would include, I suppose, Ms. Engen and whoever else the State wanted to present by way of past evaluators, if you want to do that. But I think we probably need to set a separate hearing date.

(37:4-5; App. 107-08.)

At this hearing, the court again asked whether Mr. White wanted a lawyer. (38:6.) Mr. White did not verbally respond. (See 38:6-7 (the court noted, "You're kind of wiggling your head back and forth horizontally which sometimes is nonverbal communication meaning no. But I don't want to misinterpret that.").) The court postponed a determination as to Mr. White's self-representation pending a determination of competency. (38:7-8.)

Competency Hearing

A competency hearing was held on August 28, 2018. Prior to the evidentiary portion of the hearing, the court asked Mr. White whether he wanted a lawyer. (39:2.) Mr. White did not verbally respond but shook his head no. (*Id.*) The court warned Mr. White, "if you don't say that you want a lawyer and you're not going to take steps to get one, I guess you're going to go without and that's unfortunate. But I don't know what else to do, Mr. White, under the circumstances, other than to say

that you give up your right to have a lawyer, that you forfeit your right to have a lawyer by not getting one when you could get one." (39:3.)

Dr. Engen, a psychologist with the Wisconsin Forensics Unit, testified regarding her examination of Mr. White. (39:4-5.) Dr. Engen met with Mr. White on May 23, 2018, at WSPF. (39:5-6.) She testified that Mr. White expressed confusion about why she was there and indicated he believed Eleanor Roosevelt would be the recipient of the doctor's report. (39:6.) In response to questions about Mr. White's personal history, current mental status, and his understanding of his current legal situation, Dr. Engen testified that Mr. White provided limited information of questionable reliability. (39:6-7.) Dr. Engen's impression was that Mr. White understood her questions but was "choosing to respond to them in a way that I characterize as theatrical or outlandish." (39:7.) Dr. Engen testified that during their conversation, Mr. White's answers "were not appropriate and it was my impression...that that was volitional. So he answered them incorrectly based on an effort to manipulate the situation or perhaps for diversion, for some sort of fun for him." (39:11.)

In addition to meeting with Mr. White, Dr. Engen reviewed his records with the Wisconsin Forensics Unit which included prior evaluations of his competency to stand trial and Mr. White's Department of Corrections psychological services unit file. (39:5.) Dr. Engen testified that the prior competency evaluations did not indicate any diagnosis of a major mental illness. (39:7-8.) Rather,

the primary concerns and why opinions were difficult to reach with him were due to his failure to cooperate. There were a number of refusals of evaluation. There was actually in reference only indications that he suffered from manic social personality disorder and then also a diagnosis of malingering, that was the diagnoses that were provided about 10 years ago in an (unintelligible) competency evaluation.

(39:8.) Dr. Engen testified that on three prior occasions, the doctors conducting competency evaluations were unable to form an opinion and recommended inpatient evaluation. (39:8-9.) In each of those cases, Mr. White was ultimately deemed competent to proceed. (39:9.) Dr. Engen was unable to review records from Mr. White's inpatient evaluations and was unaware of how he responded to inpatient evaluations. (39:11.) Dr. Engen was unaware of any case in which Mr. White had been determined not competent to proceed. (*Id.*)

Dr. Engen testified that the information she received from WSPF psychological services was consistent with Mr. White being "generally uncooperative." (39:9.) The prison records indicated that Mr. White was diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder, and that while there had been instances where Mr. White had reported self-harm behavior or suicidal ideation, the self-harm was determined to be unfounded. (39:9-10.) Based on Mr. White's prison records, Dr. Engen also opined that he could make written and verbal requests in a coherent manner. (39:10.)

Dr. Engen believed that Mr. White was competent to proceed, however her opinion was not offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. (39:11-12.) Dr. Engen believed Mr. White was competent because he had previously been found competent to proceed following inpatient evaluation on more than one occasion and because she did not see an indication that Mr. White suffers from a major mental illness that would interfere with competency in his records. (39:12.) Dr. Engen inferred from Mr. White's request to

transfer from WSPF to the Wisconsin Resource Center, as documented in his prison file, that he was able to self-advocate and therefore likely competent to assist in his defense. (Id.) She further noted that Mr. White had prior experience as a defendant in the criminal justice system from which he could draw to inform his current understanding. (*Id.*)

The State did not present any other evidence. (39-13.)

Mr. White declined to question Dr. Engen, though he did ask the court when he was last determined competent in a previous case. (Id.) The court informed him that Dr. Engen's report stated that the last competency determination was ten years prior, in 2008. (39:14.) Mr. White told the court that since then, he had been approved for Supplemental Security Income (SSI) due to suffering from a mental illness. (Id.) Mr. White argued that Dr. Engen was lying when she reported that he had never been diagnosed with a mental illness. (39:13, 16.) Mr. White was unable to tell the court what he had been diagnosed with but, because he had received SSI, knew he had received a mental health diagnosis. (39:16-17.)³ Ultimately, the court accepted the proposition that Mr. White had a mental illness and assumed it to be the case. (39:18; App.110.)

The court questioned Mr. White regarding his understanding of the criminal justice system:

> THE COURT: Tell me about your understanding of the criminal justice system, if you can.

> > MR. WHITE: I can't.

³ The court asked Mr. White whether he would like to have a lawyer help him obtain relevant records, and Mr. White declined stating "I don't trust people." (38:16.)

THE COURT: All right. Have you had lawyers before defend you?

MR. WHITE: I don't remember.

THE COURT: You've been in other court rooms other than this I take it. Have you ever had a jury trial before?

MR. WHITE: No.⁴

THE COURT: All right. What's your understanding of the prosecutor -- Attorney Riniker -- what's her job, do you know?

MR. WHITE: I don't know -- I don't want to understand. It don't matter.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. WHITE: Well, my understanding of her is she's a murderer; that's my understanding.

THE COURT: Based upon what?

MR. WHITE: She's a murderer.

THE COURT: Based upon what -- from what information do you gain that understanding?

MR. WHITE: I don't need no information, she's a murderer, that's my opinion. She's a murderer.

THE COURT: All right. And what about the role of the judge? What's your perception of my job?

MR. WHITE: You a murderer too.

⁴ The State later informed the court that Mr. White had previously gone to trial in two prior criminal cases; he was acquitted of charges in a 2009 case and was convicted in a 2013 case. (39:29.)

THE COURT: Based upon what, sir?

MR. WHITE: My personal opinion.

(38:14-16.)

When the court again asked if Mr. White wanted an attorney, Mr. White asked, "What good would a lawyer do me if I don't understand what's going on? You keep asking me if I want a lawyer; what good would a lawyer do me if I don't understand nothing that's going on now?" (39:18.) The court stated it believed Mr. White understood what was going on, and that "people seem to think that you're faking it." (39:18-19.) Mr. White responded that he does "un-normal things. It's not the mind of a mind of a normal person." (39:19.) Mr. White went on to draw analogies between Charles Manson, Saddam Hussein, Hitler, and John Wayne Gacy and his own abnormal thinking. (39:19-20.) The court responded, "I can tell from the storehouse of knowledge that you keep in your head that you are not an un-bright fellow. I can tell by the way that you think about appropriate examples of how to quiz me that you are a bright man." (39:21.)

The court asked Mr. White additional questions regarding his knowledge of the legal process:

THE COURT: Do you know what you are charged with?

MR. WHITE: No. I really don't care.

THE COURT: Why not?

MR. WHITE: It doesn't matter. It doesn't matter

to me.

THE COURT: Why not?

MR. WHITE: It doesn't matter to me.

Page 19 of 36

THE COURT: Do you have an out date from prison?

MR. WHITE: I don't know. Perhaps; perhaps not.

THE COURT: I don't know the answer to that.

MR. WHITE: Me neither. I'm just living.

(39:22-23.)

In support of his contention that he was not competent, Mr. White argued:

> I can say this much, I am in need of treatment and where I am at I will never receive it. I can say that much. You know, that much I'm for sure of. I've been in need of treatment for years.

Psychological treatment. I've been requesting that -- like she stated in the report -- I've been asking to go to places where I can get help. Where I'm at now can't do that. You know what their solution is to help somebody in prisons? You don't know? I'm pretty sure you are aware of the abuse that goes on in prisons. I'm pretty sure you are aware of that -- how people get mistreated, you know, then they get out. They get out, you know, or a person comes to prison and the system turns them into an animal. And he gets out and kills people and do bad -- do more bad things. Sometimes prison makes a person worse, you know that right?

THE COURT: I have opinions about that. I don't know but I have opinions.

MR. WHITE: Okay, well, it does. You know, I've seen prison turn the nicest person into the evilest person. I've seen it with my own eyes. You know, I've seen people come to prison with three years now they got 60 or 70 years because that's what the system does to them, you know. So what I'm telling you is I would never receive the proper treatment that I am in need of where I am at.

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