FILED 03-31-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2020AP275-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONALD L. WHITE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN GRANT COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CRAIG R. DAY, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-5809 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) jansonkl@doj.state.wi.us

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

On this record, was the circuit court really supposed to order *another* competency examination? The court took

reasonable steps to protect White's right to an admissible expert opinion on competency: it ordered the exam even though it was clear that he wouldn't cooperate, it encouraged him to participate, and it assured him that if he changed his mind and wanted to speak with the examiner, the court would have the examiner return.

Notably, the circuit court made clear that it was proceeding to a competency hearing without an "admissible" expert opinion because White was not cooperating and "playing games with the system." (R. 38:4-5.) Yet, White didn't take the court up on its previous offer to send the examiner back to speak with him. (R. 37:8; 38:4; 39:4–12.) Nor did he exercise his statutory right to an examination from an expert of his choice: "The defendant may be examined for competency purposes at any stage of the competency proceedings by physicians or other experts chosen by the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(g). Quite the opposite, at the competency hearing. White doubled down on his defiance: "I refused to be interviewed because they don't know what they are talking about."3 (R. 39:17.) Even on the morning of trial, when White asked for a "30 day inpatient competency evaluation," he still didn't say he'd actually cooperate with psychiatry staff.⁴ (R. 40:3–7.)

Plainly, this is conduct "incompatible with the assertion of the right" to an admissible expert opinion on competency. *Anthony*, 361 Wis. 2d 116, ¶ 64. White "interfer[ed] with the ability of the trial court to protect" his right. Vaughn, 344 Wis. 2d 764, ¶ 26. He doesn't get to seek reversal of his

³ White's belief, of course, is difficult to square with his current position on the importance of expert testimony in deciding competency. (White's Br. 29.)

⁴ White does not argue that this constituted a request under Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(g). (White's Br. 25–33.) Rightfully so because the competency proceedings were over at that point.

conviction on the basis that the court deprived him of that right. See Anthony, 361 Wis. 2d 116, ¶ 64; Vaughn, 344 Wis. 2d 764, ¶ 26; Cummings, 199 Wis. 2d at 752–56. This Court should not condone White's "blatant disrespect for the criminal trial process." Anthony, 361 Wis. 2d 116, ¶ 85.

For the above reasons, this Court should hold that White forfeited his right to an admissible expert opinion on trial competency through conduct incompatible with the assertion of the right.

- III. The circuit court didn't err in finding White competent. If it did, the error was harmless.
 - A. Whenever there's a reason to doubt the defendant's competency, the circuit court must order a competency examination, and the examiner reports on the defendant's condition.

Section 971.14 governs competency proceedings before and at trial. Relevant here, competency proceedings proceed in three steps: (1) the court orders a competency examination, (2) following the examination, the examiner files a report with the court, and (3) unless expressly waived by the parties, the court holds a competency hearing.

Whenever there is a reason to doubt the defendant's competency, the process begins by the court appointing "one or more examiners having the specialized knowledge determined by the court to be appropriate to examine and report upon the condition of the defendant." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(a). The statute requires the examiner to "personally observe and examine" the defendant, and the examiner gets access to the defendant's "past or present treatment records." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(e). As noted, "at any stage of the competency proceedings," the defendant may be examined by another expert of his choice. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(g).

Following the examination, the next step is for the examiner to file a report with the circuit court. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3). Among other things, the report must include the examiner's "clinical findings" and "opinion regarding the defendant's present mental capacity to understand the proceedings and assist in his or her defense." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(b),(c). The report must also contain the "facts and reasoning, in reasonable detail, upon which the findings and opinions" are based. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(e). The parties are entitled to a copy of the examiner's report. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(a).

Once the report is filed and served on the parties, the court determines if a competency hearing is necessary. "If the district attorney, the defendant and defense counsel waive their respective opportunities to present other evidence on the issue, the court shall promptly determine the defendant's competency . . . on the basis of the" examiner's report. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). But if the parties don't waive their respective opportunities to present other evidence, the court must hold an evidentiary hearing. *Id*. There, if the defendant claims he's incompetent, the State must prove competency "by the greater weight of the credible evidence." *Id*.

B. The ultimate finding of competency is a judicial determination, not a medical one.

Importantly, the "ultimate finding of competency is a judicial determination rather than a medical one." *State v. Smith*, 2016 WI 23, ¶ 52, 367 Wis. 2d 483, 878 N.W.2d 135. The circuit court is "not required to accept the testimony of experts." Id. ¶ 55.

"The aims of a competency hearing are modest, seeking to verify that the defendant can satisfy the understand-and-assist test. *State v. Byrge*, 2000 WI 101, ¶ 48, 237 Wis. 2d 197, 614 N.W.2d 477. That is, a "court must determine whether the defendant can understand the proceedings and assist

counsel 'with a reasonable degree of rational understanding." Id. ¶ 31 (citation omitted). "The hearing need not establish a psychiatric classification of the defendant's condition." Id. ¶ 48. "Elaborate psychiatric evaluations sometimes introduce a clinical diagnosis that may not speak to competency to proceed." Id. In determining whether the defendant has the "present mental capacity" to understand the proceedings and assist with his defense, the circuit court may rely on its own interactions with the defendant. $See\ id$. ¶ 53; $see\ also\ Smith$, 367 Wis. 2d 483, ¶¶ 52–57.

A circuit court's finding of competency is upheld unless it's clearly erroneous. Smith, 367 Wis. 2d 483, ¶ 56. A reviewing court searches the record for evidence that supports the lower court's finding. Id.

C. White received the process he was entitled to under the competency statute.

White argues that he "was entitled to a competency evaluation sufficient to produce an admissible [expert] opinion as to his competency." (White's Br. 31.) The State agrees. The parties' disagreement concerns whether he received what he was entitled to under the statute.

When the circuit court questioned White's competency to proceed, it ordered a competency examination under section 971.14(2)(a). (R. 37:5, 8, 13–14.) Engen (a licensed psychologist) then personally observed and examined White, and she also accessed his "past or present treatment records." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(e); (R. 12.)

So far so good.

Next, Engen prepared a written report for the circuit court, as section 971.14(3) requires. (R. 12.) She described "the nature of the examination," identified "the person[] interviewed," and detailed "the specific records reviewed and any tests administered to the defendant." Wis. Stat.

Case 2020AP000275 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-31-2022 Page 28 of 34

§ 971.14(3)(a); (R. 12:1–2, 4.) She also stated her "clinical findings." Wis. Stat. § 971.14(3)(b); (R. 12:2–4.) And, consistent with the plain language of section 971.14(3)(c), she gave her "opinion" as to whether White was competent to proceed. (R. 12:4–5.) Her opinion was that White was competent. (R. 12:4.)

Here's the sticking point: White claims that Engen's competency opinion wasn't an "opinion" as contemplated under section 971.14(3)(c). (White's Br. 29–31.) Although he recognizes that the statute does not "explicitly require an expert opinion to a particular degree of certainty," he contends that those words should be read into the statute. (White's Br. 29.) In his view, unless an opinion is rendered to a "reasonable degree of professional certainty," it's not an admissible expert opinion. (White's Br. 29.)

This Court should reject White's argument for two reasons: (1) it offends principles of statutory construction, and (2) it's based on a flawed premise, namely that an expert opinion is inadmissible unless it's offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty.

First, White's argument offends principles of statutory construction. The plain language of a statute controls. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Section 971.14(3)(c) requires the examiner to give an "opinion"—not an opinion to a reasonable degree of professional certainty. Therefore, this Court would need to add words to the statute to adopt White's position, which is a statutory-interpretation no-no. *In re A.P.*, 2019 WI App 18, ¶ 10, 386 Wis. 2d 557, 927 N.W.2d 560 ("We cannot, however, read language into the statute that does not exist."). Indeed, this Court recently stressed how important it is to defer to legislative language in this very context. *State v. Green*, 2021 WI App 18, ¶¶ 58–60, 396 Wis. 2d 658, 957 N.W.2d 583.

Case 2020AP000275 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-31-2022 Page 29 of 34

Granted, context and purpose are "perfectly relevant to a plain-meaning interpretation of an unambiguous statute," and statutory language should be interpreted "reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶¶ 46, 48. But none of these principles of statutory interpretation help White. Perhaps this is best demonstrated by addressing the second reason why this Court should reject White's argument: he's wrong that an expert opinion is inadmissible unless it's offered to a reasonable degree of professional certainty.

White cites to two cases for the proposition that experts "are required to testify to a reasonable degree of professional certainty or probability." (White's Br. 29.) It's true that an expert opinion is often "cast in terms of a 'reasonable degree of certainty' in the pertinent field or discipline." 7 Daniel D. Blinka, Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence § 702.603, at 701 (4th ed. 2017). "There are, however, no magic words or other talismans that govern admissibility. The proponent need only show that the expert testimony otherwise comports with § 907.02." Id. "Short of speculation, the expert's degree of certainty runs to the testimony's weight." Id. at 702 (emphasis added). "Case law sometimes distinguishes between opinions predicated upon 'probabilities' versus 'possibilities.' Admissibility does not turn on simple word choice." Id. (emphasis added). Professor Blinka continues, "[S]emantic quibbles should not cloak the real focus of the analysis: relevancy and helpfulness depends upon the reliability of the underlying theories and the techniques predicated upon those theories, especially in [the] area of scientific evidence." Id.

So, it's not quite right to say that experts "are required to testify to a reasonable degree of professional certainty or probability." (White's Br. 29.) Wis. Stat. § 907.02 governs the admissibility of expert opinions, and there's no requirement

there that the expert must use those magic words.⁵ See In re Commitment of Jones, 2018 WI 44, ¶ 29, 381 Wis. 2d 284, 911 N.W.2d 97 (discussing the "five determinations" a court must make before admitting expert testimony).

Because White is wrong that experts "are required to testify to a reasonable degree of professional certainty or probability" (White's Br. 29), he's wrong that interpreting section 971.14(3)(c) to not require those magic words would lead to an absurd result (namely, a report that the circuit court can't consider in deciding competency). (White's Br. 29.) Similarly, he'd be wrong to argue that rejecting his position would be contrary to the statute's purpose (it bears repeating that a competency determination is legal, *not* medical, and that the aims of a competency hearing are "modest"). *Byrge*, 237 Wis. 2d 197, ¶ 48. Further, any context argument would fail given that section 907.02 says nothing about White's preferred magic words.

In short, this Court should decline White's invitation to read language into section 971.14(3)(c). White received what he was entitled to under the competency statute: the examiner's opinion on his trial competency. (R. 12:4.)

That said, the State acknowledges that before the competency hearing, the circuit court said that Engen's opinion wasn't "admissible" because of the lack of the magic words. (R. 38:4.) But at the competency hearing, Engen gave her opinion on White's competency: she said that he was

⁵ Query whether the examiner's opinion even needs to satisfy the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 907.02. The competency statute says nothing about that, and it certainly could have. Moreover, as noted, where the parties waive their right to a hearing, the court "shall" determine competency of the basis of the examiner's report. Wis. Stat. § 971.14(4)(b). There's no requirement that the report be ruled admissible—indeed, hearing or not, the statute seems to treat the report as evidence once its filed.

competent. (R. 39:12.) The court didn't exclude that evidence. (R. 39:11–12.) Rather, it did what it was fully entitled to do: it refused to accept Engen's opinion and based its competency determination on its own interactions with White. (R. 39:18–29); Smith, 367 Wis. 2d 483, ¶¶ 52–57; Byrge, 237 Wis. 2d 197, ¶ 53.

Thus, White received the process that he was entitled to under the statute. The circuit court did not err in finding him competent.⁶

D. If the circuit court erred, the error was harmless.

It's the State's burden to show that any error was harmless. State v. Dyess, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985). The test is whether there's a "reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction." Id. Stated otherwise, this Court asks whether there's "[a] reasonable possibility of a different outcome." State v. Smith, 2002 WI App 118, ¶ 18, 254 Wis. 2d 654, 648 N.W.2d 15.

If this Court determines that the circuit court erred in not considering Engen's opinion at the competency hearing, the analysis is very easy. She opined that White was competent, so there's not a reasonable possibility of a different outcome.

If this Court decides that the circuit court should have ordered *another* competency examination, there's still no reasonable possibility of a different outcome. Both the competency examiner and the circuit court believed that White was playing games with the system. (R. 38:4–5; 39:7, 10–11.) That's just what White does "for some sort of fun." (R.

⁶ White's due process argument depends on his position that the circuit court "failed to follow statutorily mandated competency procedures." (White's Br. 31.) As shown above, the court did not err in this regard.

Case 2020AP000275 Brief of Respondent Filed 03-31-2022 Page 32 of 34

39:11.) He's been diagnosed with malingering, and he's faked self-harm. (R. 12:2–3; 39:8.) He's never been diagnosed with a serious mental illness, he's able to "self-advocate," and he's had "extensive experience functioning in the role of defendant." (R. 12:2, 4–5; 39:12.) Every time he's been evaluated for trial competency (apparently five times), he's been found competent. (R. 12:5; 39:8–9.) That includes the three times he initially refused to cooperate with the competency examiner. (R. 12:2–3.) Further, the record from White's proceedings (much of which is detailed in the Statement of the Case) reveals that the court was spot-on in its assessment that White had no trouble understanding the proceedings and could assist with his defense.

All this evidence shows that there's no reasonable possibility of a different outcome had the circuit court gone through the motions of ordering another competency examination. In the face of this record, it's pure speculation to say that a competency examiner suddenly would have deemed White incompetent. Courts consistently find harmless error where "the possibility of prejudice is found beyond a reasonable doubt to be merely speculative or hypothetical." *State v. Mills*, 107 Wis. 2d 368, 372, 320 N.W.2d 38 (Ct. App. 1982).

For the above reasons, if there was error, it was harmless.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm White's conviction.